
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Finance, Commercial Revenue and 
Contracts Policy & Accountability 

Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Monday, 5 October 2020 at 6.30 pm 
This meeting will be held remotely: youtu.be/a4vjES3zWzA  

 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration: Opposition 

Councillor PJ Murphy (Chair) 
Councillor Patricia Quigley 
Councillor Fiona Smith 
Councillor Guy Vincent 
 

Councillor Donald Johnson 
 

Co-optees 

Tony Boys 
Erik Hohenstein 
Chris Littmoden 
Judith Worthy 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Kayode Adewumi 

Head of Democratic Services 
 : 0208 753 2499 
 E-mail: kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
Agendas are available on the Council’s website: www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees 
 

Date Issued: 
Date Updated: 

25 September 2020 
29 September 2020 

https://youtu.be/a4vjES3zWzA
mailto:kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contracts 
Policy & Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

5 October 2020 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2.   ROLL CALL AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 The Chair will carry out a roll call to confirm attendance and members 
will have the opportunity to declare any interests. 
 
If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken. 
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Standards 
Committee. 
 

 

3.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  4 - 10 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 23 July 2020. 
 

 

4.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 This meeting is being held remotely via Microsoft Teams. If you would 
like to ask a question about any of the items on the agenda, either via 
Teams or in writing, please contact: Kayode.Adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk  
 
You can watch the meeting live on YouTube: youtu.be/a4vjES3zWzA  

 

mailto:Kayode.Adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk
https://youtu.be/a4vjES3zWzA


 

5.   FINANCIAL IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON THE COUNCIL  11 - 23 

 This report provides an update of the Council’s financial position as it 
supports residents, communities and businesses through the Covid-19 
pandemic. 
 

 

6.   REVIEW OF TERMINATION OF THE CONDITIONAL LAND SALE 
AGREEMENT  

24 - 34 

 This report reviews the Leader's decision of 15 November 2019 
approving the termination of the Conditional Land Sale Agreement 
which the council entered into with Capital & Counties Properties PLC in 
January 2013. The report explains the terms of the CLSA and the 
potential implications for the council and the residents of the West 
Kensington and Gibbs Green Estates had the agreement not been 
terminated. 
 

 

7.   CIVIC CAMPUS PROGRAMME - OCTOBER 2020 UPDATE  35 - 44 

 This report provides an update on the Civic Campus Programme. 
 

 

8.   SECTION 106 AGREEMENTS - UPDATE REPORT  45 - 51 

 This report provides an update of the current position regarding Section 
106 balances of funds received, pending, and proposed expenditure. 
 

 

9.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING   

 The next meeting is scheduled for 18 November 2020.  
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Finance, Commercial 
Revenue and Contracts 

Policy & Accountability 
Committee 

Minutes 
 

Thursday 23 July 2020 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors PJ Murphy (Chair), Patricia Quigley, 
Fiona Smith, Guy Vincent and Donald Johnson 
 
Co-opted members: Tony Boys (Community), Erik Hohenstein (Community), Chris 
Littmoden (Community) and Judith Worthy (Community) 
 
Other Councillors: Councillor Max Schmid – Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Commercial Services 
Councillor Andrew Jones - Cabinet Member for the Economy 
 
Officers:  
 

 
1. MINUTES  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 29 January 2020 were approved and 
signed by the Chair. 
 
The Chair requested that the responses to the outstanding actions be resent 
to Members. 
 
The Committee noted that Hitesh Jolapara, Strategic Director of Finance and 
Governance had recently left the Council. The Chair requested that his thanks 
and the Committee’s appreciation be put on record for all his hard work over 
the years.  The Committee noted that they had developed a good relationship 
with him, and he'll be missed.  Members welcomed Emily Hill, Director of 
Finance to her new role. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest made. 
 

4. FINANCIAL IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON THE COUNCIL  
 
The Chair noted that the Council had moved a motion at the last Full Council 
meeting calling on the Government to honour its promise and reimburse 
councils across the country the full financial cost of the COVID-19 crisis. 
 
Emily Hill, Director of Finance, noted that rigorous and precise forecasting 
regarding the impact of Covid-19 was not possible as new issues and 
challenges were arising at pace with several key variables unknown.  She 
updated the Council’s high-level modelling summarised in Table 2. 

 
Table 2 – Financial impact of Covid-19 on Hammersmith and Fulham (June 
MCHLG Return) 

 
 £m 

Expenditure 14.430 

Income loss (fees and charges and commercial) 16.218 

Income loss (council tax and business rates) 7.900 

Total expenditure and income loss 38.548 

Un-ringfenced emergency Covid-19 grant (13.507) 

Additional un-ringfenced grant and partial compensation 
for income loss (July 2 MCHLG announcement) 

8.687 

Grant shortfall 16.354 

Housing Revenue Account element of shortfall 2.369 

 
She observed that our expenditure and income loss based on the current 
understanding was far from being fully funded.  There is a £16million shortfall.  
In terms of fees and charges, the Government is expected to compensate for 
75% income loss (above a 5% threshold).  This excluded council tax and 
business rates which estimated a £7.9m loss. The actual cash loss will be 
significantly higher but part of this will be met by the Greater London Authority 
and Government. The Government had announced that this loss can be 
spread over 3 years from 2021/22 onwards. 
 
A one-year local government finance settlement will be issued for 2021/22.  
There is no commitment by the Government as to what funding will be made 
available and no clarity over timescales. There is ambiguity over the 
Government’s funding plans in both the short and long-term as other 
expected local government funding reforms have also been delayed, 
including business rates reform and social care funding. 
 
The Committee noted that the Government grant allocations are split 
between: - 

 
1. general grant allocations to help deal with the immediate impacts of 

Covid-19. The funding is un-ringfenced and available to help meet any 
financial pressures experienced by the Council (including income loss). 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

The Council has received 2 tranches of this funding (emergency Covid-19 
grant) that total £11.535m. A further additional tranche of £1.972m was 
recently confirmed.   

2. grants that are ringfenced or intended for specific purposes such as test 
and trace grant. 

3. funding that is shared with other partners. For example, £1.5 billion 
nationally has been allocated to the NHS for additional spending on 
enhanced hospital discharge arrangements. The Council has made 3 
claims to date but no response has been received yet.  Any funding 
received will help reduce the deficit. 

 
It was noted that COVID-19 and any economic downturn will have an impact 
on our services, increasing the demand in the medium and long term.  It is 
looking at expenditure where we can apply specific grants.   
 
Tony Boys noted there was a £12 million shortfall in parking income.  Judith 
Worthy asked had the Council reviewed its spend on transport particularly the 
discretionary spend in line with the reduced income.  It was noted that local 
authorities had to incur some staffing expenditure as Council’s were 
discouraged from furloughing staff.  Regarding whether our contractors’ staff 
had been placed on furlough, it was noted that our contractors must have 
used all other funding support options including furlough before the Council 
would provide financial support. 
 
In a response to a question from Councillor Vincent on the use of reserves to 
balance last year’s budget deficit, it was reported that the reserves forecast 
will be refreshed following the provisional closure of the 2019/20 Accounts 
and expected contributions to reserves in the 2020/21 budget. This will 
include an update of the reserves strategy and action plan.  Councillor 
Vincent was of the view that officers must put measures in place to balance 
the books now in light of the current shortfall.  It was noted that officers are 
looking at interim measures and mitigating factors to balance the books, but 
the Council was still in a response mode. The forecast deficit doesn’t take 
account of any 2nd wave expenditure.   
 
If the country experiences a 2nd wave the Government has not indicated how 
it intends to fund additional COVID-19 expenditure. The MCHLG and the 
Treasury has indicated to Section 151 Officers that if they get to the point of 
going bust, they would need to contact the MHCLG to negotiate whether a 
rescue package from the Government could be available. 
 
Action – A paper on the use of reserves to be submitted to the next 
meeting. 
 
Judith Worthy asked what Councils were expected to do if they experienced a 
localised outbreak.  Councillor Schmid noted that it would be a disaster for the 
local economy as people could be laid off if there was no furlough or support 
scheme in place.  
 
The Committee thanked officers for all their hard work particularly to those 
who had supported our local business during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
5. CIVIC CAMPUS UPDATE  

 
Dave Burns, Assistant Director (Growth) gave an update on the Civic 
Campus.  He noted that the programme was developing as planned.  The 
revenue element of the budget was currently forecasting an underspend and 
status remains as per previous report.  Controlled demolition of the Town Hall 
extension commenced in June 2020 and will take 4-5 months to complete 
(end of October 2020).  This is a later start than the original programme due 
to delays from Covid-19 and a reduced labour force as a result of required 
social distancing. However, this will not impact the main works programme as 
the demolition contractor has been able to re-programme elements of the 
work, and the proposed main contractor Ardmore has also integrated the 
demolition programme into their overall programme without the need for a 
delay.  The CCTV equipment on the ground must be moved out soon.  
 
The Joint Venture (JV) was incorporated on the 4th March 2020.  The Limited 
Liability Partnership (LLP) Agreement and the Conditional Agreement for 
Lease (CAL) were both signed on the 31st March 2020. 
 
In terms of governance and programme management, the progress of the 
project is monitored and scrutinised by several formal boards which include 
the Executive Board chaired by the Chief Executive.  This board meets 
monthly to review progress and budget control.   The Programme Delivery 
Group which provides management oversight is chaired by David Burns in his 
capacity as Civic Campus Project Director.   There is also a Member 
Oversight Board made up of the Deputy Leader, Cabinet Member for the 
Economy, and the Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services.  In 
addition to this, the Council had employed its own Contract Administrator 
(Currie & Brown). 
 
The Chair noted that it was good to see the governance in place and 
requested for the full membership of the Executive Board to be circulated.  
The officers must ensure transparency and full disclosure of information to 
Members.  He asked what caused the 4 months delay in signing the contract 
from November 2019 to March 2020.  In response, it was noted that the delay 
was due to the additional Cabinet and Full Council approval process.  Officers 
had been ambitious with milestones but had identified a better way to 
structure the joint venture which required additional approvals.  The process 
required additional time to ensure due diligence to protect the Council and 
A2Dominion interests. There was no risk to the deadline.  The contracts were 
not on the critical path at that point, in terms of delivery progress.    
 
Action - The full membership of the Executive Board to be circulated.   
 
Chris Littmoden asked for clarifications about Currie Brown’s role.  It was 
reported that they have the responsibility to monitor progress, the 
administration of the Council’s contract with particular focus on the town hall 
refurbishment, validate and challenge cost, and expenditure across the 
programme.  They will advise on risk and the critical path. 
 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor Johnson asked what the scope for potential changes and cost 
review in light of COVID-19 cost implications were.  Officers stated that in 
terms of the town hall and extension design, it was designed with flexible 
uses of space.  COVID-19 had shown that we can work from home therefore 
fewer people will be working in buildings with the prospects of either 
increasing lettable space or community use, or reducing the Council’s estate 
elsewhere. The building is being COVID-19 tested. 
 
Chris Littmoden noted that RBS had told 50,000 of its staff to stay at home. 
He was of the view that this was a one in a lifetime opportunity to be radical in 
using the space.  Judith Worthy noted that consideration of the impact of 
working from home on young people who do not have the space or have 
children and the impact on staff’s mental health and wellbeing must be made. 
 
Councillor Jones noted that there had been a great deal of learning from the 
COVID- 19 challenge.  There will be a different way of looking at our estate as 
a result of this.  It has uncovered a significant opportunity to look at the way 
we work and use our estate.  Councillor Murphy asked officers to learn from 
organisations that had staff working from home pre COVID-19. 
 
Councillor Quigley requested officers to ensure that all services were 
accessible. She expressed her happiness that the new Town Hall design was 
accessible. 
 
Councillor Vincent asked for clarification on the various sources of funds.  
Emily Hill, Director of Finance, noted that £16 million would be funded from 
cash balance, £45 million from borrowing, £47 million from CIL receipts, £25 
million and £64 million, the cost of buying the commercial units also from 
borrowing.   It was noted that the £67 million loan to the JV has a 5 years 
payback period as it sells their houses.   The £64 million will borrowed for 50 
years.  The lease on the commercial property will pay back the interest and 
capital.  
 
Emily Hill (Director of Finance) explained that the Council is expecting the 
majority of the town hall refurbishment and fit out £46 million to be funded 
from CIL over the next 2 years.  The receipt profile was good.  The Council 
was in a good position to borrow from the Public Works Loan Board.  There 
are also other bodies such as the Municipal Bonds Agency and other 
organisations which could lend the Council money such as via a private 
placement.  The Public Works Loans Board has a consultation paper out on 
commercial investment as it is unhappy with some local authorities 
speculating on commercial property investments outside their local area.  
Investment in commercial property should be to regenerate local areas.  The 
Council's proposal is not to borrow for commercial investment outside our 
local area. The Council must be within its borrowing limits and it is expected 
that will satisfy the Public Works Loan Board.  
 
Councillor Guy Vincent noted a further risk to the JV in the current climate 
with no tenants, the office space empty or the cinema operator walking away.  
Officers noted that there was no indication of the commercial operator walking 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

away.  The Town Hall scheme has flexible high-quality space on offer.  There 
are good deals currently being made in Hammersmith.  
 
In response to a question from Councillor Quigley, Emily Hill explained that 
the Council can only borrow for capital purposes within its set borrowing 
limits.  The Council must be able to afford to pay the interest. All Councils 
must adhere to the Prudential code.  
 
Councillor Schmid noted that there are checks and balance in place to ensure 
that the Council operates within its limits.  The Council at the beginning of the 
year sets the treasury policy.  The external auditors sign off the audited 
accounts.  The Auditor could raise concerns and may refuse to sign off the 
accounts if they think that the Council is not adhering to the appropriate 
policies.  The Audit Committee also scrutinises the Council’s accounts. 
 
Judith Worthy said the budget summary did not give clarity on the sources of 
funds.  The full knowledge of the costs is required.  David Burns noted that 
cost certainty will be fixed by 31 July 2020 and will form the basis of a 
proposed fixed price contract with the Contractor. 
 
Action – The sources and applications of funds and the full project 
budget be circulated to the Members. 
 
Councillor Jones noted that the Council was borrowing to invest in a land 
development project.  The output of this project would be to generate 
revenue.  Any borrowing will be secured against the assets which will improve 
the Council's finance. 
 
Judith Worthy asked how recently the control measures in the risk register 
had been updated.  Officers noted that an update was written just after the 
despatch.  The updated version including more specific control measures will 
be circulated. 
 
Action – To circulate the updated risk register.  
 
Eric Hohenstein asked who is certifying the business case in light of COVID-
19 and what is the current valuation. Officers noted that Currie Brown is 
advising the Council on the valuation which is being validated.  He asked 
officers to refer to the valuation of the assets in future updates to the 
committee.  
 
Action – Officers to refer to the valuation of the assets in future updates. 
 
Officers noted that the closed actions were not included in the register.  The 
risks raised by Deloitte had been included in the register.  The risk process is 
robust.  In future, the closed risks will be included in the register.   
 
Action – To include closed risks in the register.  
 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Tony Boys asked if the risks have been financially quantified.  David noted 
that viability, specificity and financial quantified testing had been done on 
some.  
 
Action – To circulate the risk testing outcomes in the risk register. 
 
Councillor Johnson asked for the impact of people working from home be 
taken into consideration on the viability of the Town Hall project and the local 
economy.  Councillor Jones noted that bringing people into the West King 
Street and the Town Hall was a point that must be addressed to ensure the 
regeneration of the area.  Finally, Officers agreed to highlight any milestone 
that slip in future reports. 
 
Action – To highlight slipped milestones in future reports. 
 
The Chair thanked officers for all their hard work. 
 

6. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The following reports for the next meeting were requested:- 
 

 Reserves paper 

 Provisions 

 Gibbs Green estate  
 

7. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
Monday 21st September 2020 
 

 
Meeting started: 6.30 pm 
Meeting ended: 8.35 pm 

 
 

Chairman   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Kayode Adewumi 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 07899661869 
 E-mail: kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 10



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to:   Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contracts Policy & Accountability 

Committee 
 
Date:   5 October 2020 
 
Subject:  Financial Impact of Covid-19 on the Council 
 
Report of:  Emily Hill – Director of Finance  
 
Responsible Director: Emily Hill – Director of Finance 
 

 
Summary 
 
This report provides an update of the council’s financial position as it supports our 
residents, communities and businesses through the Covid-19 pandemic. The second 
wave, newly announced coronavirus measures, additional roles and responsibilities 
for local authorities, and the threat of a second lockdown without any promise of 
additional funding from the government increases the uncertainty of the financial 
impact on the council and this is under continuous review.  
 
A net adverse impact of £18.3 million is currently forecast based on our best 
estimate of costs, revenue losses and government funding. £7.1m of the adverse 
impact is a potential charge against the current year general fund budget with the 
balance a charge against future years and the Housing Revenue Account. The 
forecast continues to be updated as the government and council response to the 
pandemic evolves. 
 
If the government does not fully fund the Covid-19 pandemic it will pose a significant 
financial risk. 
 

 
Recommendations 
 
1. Note and comment on the contents of the report and on the financial impact on 

the council. 
 

 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
H&F Priorities 
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the 
H&F Priorities  

 Building shared prosperity Some of the government grant funding 
includes reliefs and grants to local 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



businesses which have been administered 
by the Council. 

 Creating a compassionate 
council 

The Covid-19 pandemic hits our most 
vulnerable resident’s the hardest. The 
Council’s response and the costs incurred in 
responding to the pandemic has been 
incurred in ensuring that our residents, 
especially our most vulnerable residents are 
safe and have access to essential food and 
services during the pandemic.  

 Doing things with local 
residents, not to them 

The Covid-19 response has harnessed the 
power, skills and generosity of our residents 
in establishing and supporting our volunteer 
Community Action Network which also helps 
to reduce council costs.  

 Being ruthlessly financially 
efficient 

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a 
significant financial impact on the council 
has incurred additional costs as a result and 
has sought to manage these and ensure 
value for money wherever possible. These 
costs and lost revenues will be funded by 
government grant as far as possible. 

 Taking pride in H&F The Covid-19 response has included 
expenditure on social distancing measures 
in important public spaces.  

 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Name:  Andrew Lord 
Position: Head of Strategic Planning and Monitoring 
Telephone: 020 8753 2531 
Email:  andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
None. 
 

 
1. Context and background 

 
1.1. An update is provided on the financial impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on 

the council. The latest estimate is an adverse impact of £18.3m of which 
£3.3m relates to the Housing Revenue Account and £7.9m will be a charge 
against future years. 
 
 

2. Government support to date 
 

2.1. The grant funding provided by the government to support the council’s local 
response to the Covid-19 pandemic, and to administer government designed 

Page 12



schemes, is summarised in Table 1. The detailed grant allocations are set out 
in Appendix 1. 

 
Table 1 – Government grant funding  

 

 £m 

General – un-ringfenced grants 13.5 

Income compensation scheme for lost sales, fees and 
charges (estimated) 

6.0 

Service and specific grants 6.6 

 
2.2 Government grant allocations are split between: 

 General grant allocations to help deal with the immediate impacts of Covid-
19. The funding is un-ringfenced and can help meet any financial pressures 
experienced by the council. The government expect that most of the grant 
will be used to support adult social care and vulnerable residents. The 
council has received three tranches of this funding (emergency Covid-19 
grant) that total £13.5 million.   

 A lost income scheme which compensates local authorities for a proportion 
of lost fees and charges income. 

 Grants that are ringfenced or intended for specific purposes such as test and 
trace grant. 

 Funding that is shared with other partners. For example, £1.5 billion 
nationally has been allocated to the NHS for additional spending on 
enhanced hospital discharge arrangements. The council is in discussion with 
the local CCG on accessing some of this funding through monthly claims. 
 

2.3 The grant forecast includes £6.0m regarding compensation for lost sales, fees 
and charges income. Under this scheme, announced on 2 July, the council has 
to fund the first 5% of lost income whilst the government will fund 75% of any 
further loss for 2020/21 only. The scheme does not include commercial or 
residential rental income and only covers the net budgeted loss (if costs are 
saved these have to be deducted from the grant claimed). The final amount of 
grant receivable will not be confirmed until the financial year-end. The first claim 
will be submitted at the end of September and an estimate for the year is 
included in the forecast.     

 
2.4 In addition, there was also a grant support scheme relating to local business, 

broadly split between: 

 Rate relief schemes that reduce the business rates income receivable by the 
council. The council is compensated for this loss. The current allocation is 
£116.9m albeit the latest estimate is that the final grant will exceed £130m. 
More than 2,700 businesses have been granted 100% relief for the full year. 

 Reimbursement to the council for extra payments made to small businesses 
and retail, leisure and hospitality businesses. The current grant allocation is 
£51.7m and this has to be claimed by businesses by the end of September. 
As at 23 September payments of £49.1m have been made.  

 
2.5 There are several grants, set out in Appendix 1, for which the allocation has yet 

to be confirmed. Account will be taken of all funding as, and when, the 

Page 13



allocations are announced and when details of what can be claimed are 
available. 

 
3. Spending pressures and income loss 
 

3.1 Precise forecasting regarding the financial impact of Covid-19 is not possible. 
New issues and challenges continue to arise at pace with several key risks. 
The second wave, newly announced coronavirus measures, additional roles 
and responsibilities for local authorities, and the threat of a second lockdown 
without any promise of additional funding from the government, increases the 
uncertainty of the financial impact on the council and this is under continuous 
review. We do not know: 

 the likely depth and duration of the current economic downturn 

 the potential for a local lockdown, and what the new ‘normal’ will look like 

 the extent of pent-up demand for services 

 changes to future work, leisure and travel patterns. 
 

3.2 The latest high-level modelling by the council is summarised in Table 2. It is 
based on the monthly Covid-19 data return submitted to the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MCHLG) for August. 

 
Table 2 – Financial impact of Covid-19 on Hammersmith and Fulham 
(August MCHLG Return) 

 

 £m 

Expenditure 17.5 

Income loss (fees and charges and commercial) 17.1 

Income loss (council tax and business rates) 7.9 

Total expenditure and income loss 42.5 

Un-ringfenced emergency Covid-19 grant (13.5) 

Compensation for sales, fees and charges income loss (estimate) (6.0) 

Use of specific grants and offsetting expenditure reductions (4.7) 

General grant shortfall 18.3 

Impact on the council budgets  

Housing Revenue Account  (3.3) 

Collection fund (council tax and business rates) - charge to future 
years 2021/22-2023/24 

(7.9) 

General Fund impact on current year 2020/21 (7.1) 

Total Covid-19 net impact 18.3 

 
3.3 The forecast additional expenditure and income loss is detailed in Appendix 2. 

Some key areas of additional Covid-19 related expenditure include: 

 £3m on personal protective equipment (PPE) 

 £2m of additional expenditure to support adult social care market/ 
providers 

 £1.6m additional expenditure on adult social care demand 

 £1.6m on supporting rough sleepers and homelessness 

 £0.9m on cycle lanes/ social distancing 

 £0.7m on increasing mortuary capacity 

Page 14



 £0.6m to support hospital discharge 

 £0.6m on supporting social distancing in parks and open spaces. 
 

Principle areas where Covid-19 has affected council revenues include: 

 £11.9m parking and traffic management income loss 

 £3.1m reduction in other fees and charges income 

 £1.5m Housing Revenue Account rental/ income loss. 
 

3.4 A net shortfall in grant of £18.3m is currently forecast. The forecast assumes 
cross subsidy from specific grants and offsetting expenditure reductions of 
£4.7m. This includes use of test and trace grant, contributions from health and 
lower costs in some service areas, such as client transport, during the lockdown 
period.  

 
3.5 In relation to future PPE costs, the Department of Health and Social Care winter 

plan confirmed that the Department will provide free PPE for Covid-19 to care 
homes and domiciliary care providers, and other social care providers, via the 
local authority, until the end of March 2021, which should limit future costs to the 
council.  

 
3.6 Whilst the government has announced additional expectations of local 

authorities such as enforcement of coronavirus measures and administration of 
self-isolation payments to those on low incomes, which may incur additional 
costs, no details of funding, if any, of these additional responsibilities have been 
provided to date.  

 
3.7 The estimated £7.9m loss regarding council tax and business rates shows the 

potential net impact on the council. The actual cash loss will be significantly 
higher but part of this will fall to be met by the Greater London Authority and 
government (particularly in providing a safety net that caps the business rates 
loss to the council). The council tax collection rate is currently 4.8% lower than 
last year. There has also been a 650 (7.5%) increase, compared to budget, of 
working-age residents receiving discounts through the local council tax support 
scheme, which reduces expected council tax revenues.  

 
3.8 The government have announced that the business rates and council tax loss 

can be spread over 3 years from 2021/22 onwards and account (not necessarily 
funding) will be considered within future local government finance settlements. 
Unless extra funding is forthcoming this loss will need to be allowed for within the 
council’s future budget setting process. 

 
4. Other financial impacts 
 
4.1 Due to the current uncertainty and flux in the economy, the government have 

abandoned plans to undertake a comprehensive spending review and a ‘fair 
funding’ review in 2020/21. A one-year local government finance settlement will 
be issued for 2021/22 with, as yet, no commitment by government as to what 
funding will be made available and no clarity over timescales. There is 
ambiguity over the government’s funding plans in both the short and long-term 

Page 15



as other expected local government funding reforms have also been delayed, 
including business rates reform and social care funding. 

 
4.2 This uncertainty is compounded by concern that Covid-19 will potentially result 

in a deep, and prolonged, recession. UK gross domestic product (GDP) is 
estimated to have fallen by a record 20.4% in Quarter 2 (Apr to June) 2020, 
marking the second consecutive quarterly decline after it fell by 2.2% in Quarter 

1 (Jan to Mar) 2020.  A prolonged recession will affect a range of council 
budgets such as, fees/charges and rental budgets, a need to support key 
suppliers and an increased demand for services to vulnerable adults and 
children. 

4.3 Taken together, budget planning for 2021/22 is taking place against an 
extremely uncertain national economic and policy background.  

 
4.4 The council’s capital programme continues to be reviewed. Assumptions on 

viability of schemes, borrowing costs, future receipts and availability of grant 
funding, and other contributions all need to be tested. Expected grant funding 
allocations of £2.1m from Transport for London (TfL) are already no longer 
assumed within the capital programme and other project funding is at risk . TfL 
are expected to run a revised bidding process. 

 
5 Financial resilience and recovery 
 
5.1 Covid-19 is having a significant effect on the council’s finances. The modelling 

set out in this report forecasts an adverse impact of £18.3m of which £7.1m will 
be a potential charge against current year general fund reserves.  The future 
years loss of £7.9m will require additional budget savings to be made over the 
medium term.  

 
5.2 Whilst this forecast is subject to change, it presents a clear risk to the council’s 

future financial resilience. Unless significant additional government grant is 
made available, the funding shortfall will either need to be met through 
reductions in existing, and future, budgets and/or the use of one-off reserves. 

 
5.3 After a decade of grant cuts, with overall grant funding reducing by £68m from 

2010/11 to 2020/21 the council’s reserves are already under pressure. There is 

limited scope to fund the shortfall in Covid-19 funding whilst meeting current 

commitments, ensuring that the council maintains an adequate future working 

balance and providing sufficient funding for future transformation programmes. 

Any funding from reserves in the short term will require future plans to replenish 

those to an adequate level.  

5.4  In order to minimise the potential call on reserves an in-year recovery 

programme is in place that identifies mitigating actions against the expected 

overspend. Early implementation of potential 2021/22 savings will be proposed 

as partial mitigation against the 2020/21 position and further mitigations and 

proposals are being considered. 

Page 16



5.5  The potential impact of Covid-19 has been modelled within the council’s 

medium-term financial forecast. This includes a number of assumptions in a 

period of significant uncertainty and therefore potential scenarios result in a 

very wide range of outcomes. The recovery programme, to balance the future 

budget, will integrate service reviews and departmental income and savings 

opportunities alongside council-wide/ cross-cutting programmes. 

 
List of Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 – Covid-19 grant funding 
 
Appendix 2 – Forecast expenditure and income loss from Covid-19

Page 17



Appendix 1: Covid-19 grant funding 

Grant H&F 
allocation 

£000s 

Notes 

Government grant allocations: 

Emergency Covid-19 
grant 

13,507 Un-ringfenced funding to support local 
authorities, 3 tranches 

Funding support for 
income loss from fees 
and charges 

6,000 
(estimate) 

2 July announcement. Local authorities to 
fund 5% of income loss. 75% of the 
balance to be met from grant 

Test and trace 2,020 Ringfenced funding to support test and 
trace to mitigate and manage local 
outbreaks 

Hardship fund 1,947 To provide council tax relief, either through 
existing Local Council Tax Support 
schemes, or complementary reliefs 

Adult social care NHS 
discharge funding 

833  
(estimate) 

£1.5bn NHS funding for enhanced 
discharge arrangements – actuals to be 
claimed from CCGs  

Infection control 688 75% ringfenced for care homes with 25% 
at local authority discretion 

Next steps 
accommodation/ rough 
sleepers short-term 
funding 

473 £105m for interim support for vulnerable 
people accommodated during the 
pandemic 

Local welfare 
assistance 

217 £63m to support those affording food and 
other essentials 

New burdens funding: 
business rates/ grants 

170 Funding for costs of administering 
business rate reliefs and grants and the 
hardship fund. 

Reopening high streets 
safely fund 

167 Subject to submission of a grant claim 

Active travel fund 100 To support walking and cycling return to 
work. £92,000 is for capital spend. 

Wellbeing for 
education return 

26 To better equip education settings to 
support pupils and students’ wellbeing and 
psychosocial recovery as they return to 
full-time education 

Rough sleepers 2 £1,650 to provide accommodation and 
support to rough sleepers 

Infection control – 
winter plan 

TBC £546 million for care provider infection 
control throughout winter 

Next steps 
accommodation/ rough 
sleepers long-term 
funding 

TBC Awaiting outcome of bid process 

New burdens funding: 
hardship fund 

TBC  

New burdens funding: 
discretionary grants 

TBC  

Page 18



Appendix 1: Covid-19 grant funding 

Grant H&F 
allocation 

£000s 

Notes 

Business 

Retail and nursery 
business rates relief 

116,967 Grant paid to H&F to fund business rates 
relief (i.e. compensate for loss of business 
rates income). Final amount likely to 
exceed £130m. 

Business grants 49,208 Small business grants and retail, leisure 
and hospitality business grants – eligibility 
based on business rate status. 

Discretionary business 
grants 
 

2,404 Additional fund for small/ micro businesses 
not eligible for the above and at the 
discretion of the local authority. 

BID funding 65 To be passed directly to BIDs. 

Page 19



Appendix 2: Forecast expenditure and income loss from Covid-19 

Additional expenditure - Covid-19 
 

   
Services Details  £m 

Adult social care - extra 
demand 

Supporting Covid-19 positive residents in their own homes, 
shielding and self-isolating 

1.577 

Sheltered schemes deep cleans 0.022 

Adult social care - 
supporting the market 

Additional funding to support the financial resilience and 
costs being faced by providers  

1.962 

Workforce pressures Reablement cost of staff deployed to hospital discharge 0.599 

Personal Protective 
Equipment (PPE) 

PPE equipment for use by care providers and key workers  2.250 

Adult Social Care Total    6.410 

Children's social care - 
residential care 

Hold on placement moves 0.226 

Children's social care - 
foster care 

Increased costs to support foster placements 0.011 

Children's Social Care - care 
leavers 

Additional cost for six young people in supported 
independent living 

0.029 

Children's Services - other Virtual school laptop purchase 0.017 

  
Subsistence payments for looked after children & leaving 
care clients 

0.010 

Children's Social Care 
Total 

  0.293 

  

Disabled Children's Team (DCT) placements 0.080 

DCT delayed placement move to the Haven 0.018 

Conversion costs for the Haven 0.006 

Other operational costs at the Haven 0.082 

Additional transport; minibus, activities and equipment 0.033 

Additional Stephen Wiltshire services in lieu of school 
opening 

0.033 

Stephen Wiltshire additional costs to support PPE 
distribution 

0.025 

Extra costs - gloves, Medicare etc 0.004 

Play association scheme in lieu of education 0.042 

Petty cash/expenses claims  0.001 

Additional costs that may occur due to a potential surge in 
EHCP assessments 

0.026 

Transport arrangement for students attending summer 
provision at Woodlane 

0.001 

Direct payment officer post 0.012 

  

Project management of integrated education response and 
recovery plan  

0.050 

Marketing and communication support for schools and 
parents 

0.009 

Working with the third sector to offer Easter, May half term 
and summer clubs for key worker and vulnerable children 

0.074 

Education Total   0.496 

Highways and Transport 
Cycle lane works to aid social distancing - TfL funding 
request submitted but not confirmed 

0.939 

Page 20



Appendix 2: Forecast expenditure and income loss from Covid-19 

Highways and Transport 
Total 

  0.939 

Public Health Test and tracing and outbreak planning  0.950 

Public Health Total   0.950 

Housing homelessness 
services 

Additional costs 0.215 

Housing - rough sleeping Additional costs to house rough sleepers 1.343 

Housing Total excluding 
HRA 

  1.558 

Culture & Related - sports, 
leisure & community 

Enforcing social distancing in parks and open spaces 0.634 

Culture & Related Total   0.634 

Environment & Regulatory - 
cremation, cemetery & 
mortuary services 

Shared pan-London Resilience mortuary and coronial 
arrangement costs 

0.706 

Waste services Waste management 0.215 

Other 
Food safety, trading standards, noise and nuisance - 
agency costs for enforcement of social distancing, shops 
closure and noise reduction. 

0.037 

Environment & Regulatory 
Total 

  0.958 

Planning & Development 
Support  to the Community Aid Network (CAN) programme 
and North End Road market security costs 0.193 

Finance & Corporate - ICT & 
remote working 

Remote working requirements and other developments 0.170 

Revenues and Benefits 
expansion 

Overtime and agency costs to deal with increased claims 
and contacts 

0.238 

Finance & Corporate - other 
Communications, Covid-19 director and Community Aid 
Network staff costs 

0.337 

Finance and Corporate 
Total 

  0.938 

Other PPE (non-social care 
and HRA) 

Non-social care / HRA use of PPE 0.750 

  
Support to foodbanks and purchase of food parcels and 
vouchers 

0.150 

Unachieved savings Children's Services - staff restructure efficiencies 0.145 

  Social care efficiency savings 1.200 

  Supported independent living moves delayed 0.080 

  
Revenues, benefits and customer contact savings 
reorganisation  

0.066 

  Waste contract savings due to service impact of Covid-19 0.243 

Other Total   2.634 

Total General Fund   15.810 

      

HRA workforce Delay to development / capital works of 3 months 0.811 

HRA other   0.710 

HRA supplies and materials 
(incl PPE) 

Cleaning, PPE and other costs 0.200 

Total HRA   1.721 

   
Total All   17.531 

Page 21



Appendix 2: Forecast expenditure and income loss from Covid-19 

Income loss - Covid-19  
 

   Services Details £m 

Highways and Transport 
Sales Fees & Charges 
Parking (SFC) losses 

Modelled parking and traffic management income loss 
compared to budget - sensitive to lockdown and recovery 
assumptions 

11.900 

Highways and Transport 
SFC losses Total 

  11.900 

Cultural & Related (SFC) - 
Recreation and sport losses 

Deferment of sports booking contractual income  0.200 

Deferment of Leisure Centre contractual income during 
period of leisure centre closure relating to lockdown 

0.099 

Cultural & related SFC other Loss of income due to lockdown closures - libraries 0.158 

Loss of income due to lockdown closures - registrars 0.195 

Loss of income due to lockdown closures - events 0.244 

Loss of income due to lockdown closures - filming 0.037 

Cultural & Related (SFC) 
losses Total 

  0.933 

  Building control charges 0.122 

  Planning fees 0.350 

Building Control & 
Planning SFC losses Total   0.472 

Other SFC loss Regulatory Services - pest control, gas safety checks, 
private sector housing licencing, other licencing 

0.133 

Commercial Waste - net income loss (lost income net of 
costs avoided) 

0.228 

Temporary traffic orders 0.018 

Care Act easement 0.341 

Adult Education fees 0.603 

Ed psychology / Inspire Summer term deferred income 0.130 

Lilla Husset professional development centre 0.100 

Land charges 0.190 

Other SFC losses Total   1.743 

Total Sales, Fees and 
Charges losses   15.048 

Commercial Income loss 
Digital advertising,  property rentals and  markets (net of 
assumed future income recovery from deferred payments) 

0.607 

Other Income losses   0.607 

General Fund income loss 
(SFC) Total   15.655 

   HRA – residential  Residential rent arrears 0.800 

HRA – commercial  Commercial rent arrears 0.083 

HRA – losses from voids Irrecoverable income loss from voids 0.563 

HRA income losses Total   1.446 

   
Total Income Loss   17.101 

Page 22



Appendix 2: Forecast expenditure and income loss from Covid-19 

Collection fund loss - Covid-19  

   

Net impact on Council Tax 
Allowance for lower collection rate and higher cost of the 
local council tax support scheme 

6.000 

Net impact on business 
rates 

Net Impact after allowance for the business rates safety net. 
No gain assumed from the London Business Rates pool. 

1.900 

Collection Fund Loss - 
impacts on 2021/22 

  7.900 

   
Collection fund losses can now be spread over three years from 2021/22 to 2023/24 

 

Page 23



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Report to:  Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contracts Policy & Accountability 
Committee 

 
Date:   5 October 2020 
 
Subject:  Review of termination of the Conditional Land Sale Agreement (CLSA) 
 
Report of:  Matt Rumble, Head of Area Regeneration 
 
Responsible Director: Tony Clements, Interim Strategic Director for the Economy 
 

 
Summary 
 
This report reviews the Leader's decision of the 15th November 2019 approving the 
termination of the Conditional Land Sale Agreement (CLSA) which the council 
entered into with Capital & Counties Properties PLC (“CapCo”) in January 2013.  
The report explains the terms of the CLSA and the potential implications for the 
council and the residents of the two estates affected had the CLSA not been 
terminated. 
 
The CLSA incorporated two council estates; West Kensington and Gibbs Green 
Estates, as option land for the developer as part of a wider regeneration scheme 
centred around Earl’s Court exhibition centres.  
 
 

 
Recommendations 
 
1. For the Committee to note the report and make recommendations for future 

learning, as it sees fit. 
 

 

 
Wards Affected: North End Ward and Fulham Broadway 
 

 

H&F Values 
Summary of how this report aligns to the 
H&F Priorities  

Building shared prosperity 

The termination of the CLSA was a long fought 
for goal of many residents in the estates and it 
demonstrated the Council’s commitment to 
listening to the wishes of its residents. 

Creating a compassionate council 
Maintaining existing established communities in 
the estates was a key priority. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 6



Doing things with local residents, 
not to them 

Responding to residents’ concerns was the 
primary drive for agreeing the termination rather 
than limited improvement of CLSA terms. 

Being ruthlessly financially 
efficient 

Termination, without paying more than what was 
received, demonstrated the council’s ability to 
operate in a ruthlessly financially efficient 
manner. 

Taking pride in H&F 

The achievement was only possible through 
close working with residents who demonstrated 
their pride and commitment to their communities 
and estates. 

 
Contact Officer: 
 
Name: Matt Rumble 
Position: Area Regeneration 
Telephone: 07786747488 
Email: matt.rumble@lbhf.gov.uk  
 
 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
Leader’s Urgent Decision dated 15 November 2019 - ‘Termination of Conditional 
Land Sale Agreement – Earl’s Court’ 
 
Cabinet Report dated 3rd September 2012 - ‘Earls Court Statutory and Wider 
Consultation’ 
 
Cabinet Report dated 18 July 2011 – ‘EARLS COURT REDEVELOPMENT’ 
 

 
 
  

Page 25

mailto:matt.rumble@lbhf.gov.uk


1. Termination of the CLSA 
 
1.1 On the 15th of November 2019 the council exchanged contracts with Earls 

Court Investment Holdings Ltd on a conditional agreement for termination of 
the Conditional Land Sale Agreement (CLSA).  This termination deed would 
result in the termination of the CLSA. The conditional agreement was signed 
following an urgent leader’s decision on 15 November 2019. 
 

1.2 The conditional agreement became unconditional and the termination deed 
was entered into on the 9th December 2019.  The conditions included 
Delancey, on behalf of Dutch pension fund APG, acquiring the share capital of 
EC Group Holdings Limited, being the owner of EC Properties LP and EC 
Properties LP Limited. These companies had entered into the CLSA with the 
council on 23 January 2013 and owned the majority of the Earls Court 
development site. Alongside the termination of the CLSA, the council re-
acquired the former Gibbs Green School site and 11 Farm Lane, which were 
sold to CapCo in 2013 as part of the CLSA deal.  
 
Background to the termination of the CLSA 
 

1.3 In 2019, CapCo reported to the press that they had received bids for their 
interests in Earl’s Court which included the CLSA and their shares in Earls 
Court Partnerships Limited. The latter was a joint venture company with 
Transport for London (TFL) which covered the land of the former exhibition 
centres. Press articles reported that CapCo agreed a period of exclusivity with 
Delancey and that Delancey were the preferred bidder. 
 

1.4 Officers met with representatives of Delancey during the period of exclusivity 
to discuss the Council’s priorities for Earl’s Court. Delancey confirmed its 
intention to bring the CLSA to an end and return land parcels to the Council. 
 

1.5 Both parties recognised the importance of the West Kensington and Gibbs 
Green communities and the need to protect the homes from any future 
development of the Earl’s Court site and agreed to work on the necessary 
actions to facilitate this. 
 

1.6 The Council’s legal advisers, Lewis Silkin, prepared the Termination Deed 
and associated transfer documents required to bring the CLSA to an end, 
including the return of the former Gibbs Green School and 11 Farm Lane sites 
to the council. These were to be entered into shortly after Delancey/APG 
completed its share purchase of EC Group Holdings Limited (owned by 
CapCo). 
 

1.7 The Council also commissioned external valuation advice from Avison Young 
(AY) on the acquisition of the former Gibbs Green School and 11 Farm Lane 
sites, at the price paid for them pursuant to the 2013 CLSA. AY concluded 
that the acquisition represented value for money to the Council. The Council’s 
Head of Asset Strategy reviewed the valuations undertaken by AY and 
formally confirmed this position.  
 

Page 26



1.8 The form of Termination Deed was agreed before, and in anticipation of, 
completion of the purchase of the entire share capital of EC Group Holdings 
Limited by Delancey/APG and annexed to the conditional agreement.  Under 
the Termination Deed, the Transaction Documents were terminated and the 
Council:  
 
1.8.1 returned the money paid under the CLSA, which stood at £74.6m 

excluding VAT;  
1.8.2 paid £15m to re-acquire both the Gibbs Green School site and 11 Farm 

Lane site. This was the price paid for both parcels of land under the 
CLSA in 2013; and 

1.8.3 was released from its obligation to transfer the West Kensington and 
Gibbs Green estates.  

 
1.9 Termination required the council to write off £5.9m of historic projects costs 

against the Housing Revenue Account; no additional budget pressure was 
created as this was covered by previously ringfenced HRA reserves. 
£200,000 of historic General Fund costs were also written off.  
 

1.10 The principal reason for the termination of the CLSA was to stop the 
demolition and redevelopment of the West Kensington and Gibbs Green 
estates as part of the Earls Court master plan and, in doing so, end a decade 
of uncertainty for residents of both estates. 
 

1.11 The two land parcels of 11 Farm Lane and the former Gibbs Green School 
site were returned to Council ownership and these, alongside the former 
nursery site on Lillie Road, are now being considered for redevelopment, 
prioritised for new genuinely affordable housing.    
 

1.12 There were in excess of 140 homes on the West Kensington and Gibbs 
Green Estates which, under the CLSA, were restricted for temporary use only. 
Termination of the CLSA made it possible for residents living in these homes 
to be made offers of secure tenancies or for the homes to be used to rehouse 
residents on the housing register waiting for a permanent home. This work to 
convert tenancies is ongoing with 80 new permanent social housing tenancies 
across both estates, where the homes met residents’ housing need. 

 
2. Background to the CLSA 

2.1 In 2007, the council held a summit for property developers with the aim of 
establishing partnerships with private developers and bringing forward major 
regeneration in opportunity areas. 

2.2 In October 2009 the council, CapCo and TFL entered into a Collaboration 
Agreement for the Earls Court site. This was followed in 2011 with an 
exclusivity agreement under which CapCo paid the council £15m for exclusive 
rights to bring forward plans for the two estates. 

2.3 On 3rd September 2012, Cabinet agreed to enter into the Conditional Land 
Sale Agreement (CLSA) to sell approximately 22 acres of land, including 760 

Page 27



homes forming West Kensington and Gibbs Green Estate, to EC Properties 
LP; part of the CapCo) Group. Negotiations on substantive terms of the CLSA 
continued after the Cabinet decision. 

2.4 At the time, the aim of the CLSA was to incorporate the two council estates in 
to a wider regeneration area, creating a scheme of 70 acres (28.3 hectare) 
comprising three principle land owners - Transport for London (freeholder of 
the depot and Earls Court) and Earls Court & Olympia Ltd (EC&O, controlled 
by Capital and Counties Ltd) who had leases on Earls Court exhibition centres 
1 and 2 and the Council’s two housing estates. 

2.5 This area contained commercial exhibition facilities, railway and operational 
transport depots and 760 private and social rented housing in the West 
Kensington and Gibbs Green estates which included 58 housing association 
properties. 

2.6 As the scheme stretched over Kensington and Chelsea and Hammersmith 
and Fulham a joint outline planning permission was granted in November 
2013 which, following the Secretary of State’s consent to the scheme, 
removed the conditionality of the CLSA. 

 
2.7 In support of the regeneration, West Kensington and North Fulham were 

identified as one of five preferred priority areas in the Local Development 
Framework Core Strategy Options. 
 

2.8 The scheme was initially intended to take 15 years with the first phase of 
development completing in 2016. The two estates were divided into six 
phases with a proposed moving date for residents in the last phase being 
2024. 
 

2.9 At the time the CLSA was terminated, regeneration had completely stalled. 
Only demolition of the exhibition centres had taken place and no homes had 
been constructed on any part of the masterplan site.  
 

2.10 More information on the timeline relating to the scheme is summarised in 
Appendix 1 
 

3. Overview of the CLSA 
 
3.1 The CLSA had within it several clauses or mechanism that were unusual for 

council development or regeneration schemes, which are summarised below.  
 

 Indexation on a land receipt – The £90m cash paid to the council was 
not subject to any inflation irrespective of the time taken to develop the 
land. This meant that the longer the scheme took the lower the value of 
the cash receipt to the council. 

 

 Financial risk for vacant possession – under the CLSA, costs and risks 
of vacant possession of the estate land were borne by the council. The 
financial exposure to the council would have increased over time due 

Page 28



to house price inflation, in contrast with the lack of indexation on the 
land receipt. 

 

 No control over speed of development – The developer enjoyed 
freedom to call on council land in phases, but with no obligation to do 
so. The agreement granted the developer control of boundaries, order 
and timing of phases.  

 

 Limited and long-term termination clauses for non-delivery – 
Termination of the CLSA for non-delivery was only possible at the 
halfway point, effectively late 2025, some 12 years after the CLSA was 
signed, and only in circumstances where the developer had failed to 
deliver a number of replacement homes.  

 

 Lack of meaningful resident consultation – The CLSA did not require 
the developer to fully consult residents on the quality or location of 
replacement homes or respond to and address their views, only to 
‘engage’ with residents 

 

 Cost of adaptation – In typical planning scenarios, developers are 
required to make 10% of new homes wheelchair adaptable and adapt 
them if there’s a need. The CLSA required the council to cover 
adaptation costs of replacement homes with the developer’s liability for 
adaptation on the whole scheme limited to £100,000. In doing so, the 
council offered the developer a further financial protection and at the 
same time accepting cost risk. 

 
The deal 
 

3.2 The cash receipt from the deal was: 
 

 £15m paid under an exclusivity deal 

 £15m for Gibbs Green School and 11 Farm Lane  

 £75m payable in 5 annual instalments of £15m  
 

3.3 The council was to receive up to 760 replacement homes and a fixed 
maximum cash payment of £90m (plus £15m for Gibbs Green School and 
Farm Lane).  This reduced to £89,500,000 if the Seagrave Road Houses were 
not included in the Option Land at the relevant time. This was not linked to 
changes in property values or inflation.  
 

3.4 The land to be transferred under the CLSA was as follows: 
 

 The West Kensington and Gibbs Green Estates (531 social housing 
properties and 171 replacement leaseholder/freeholder properties); 

 The former Gibbs Green School; 

 11 Farm Lane; and 

 Seagrave Road and Ricketts Street houses (4 houses). 
 

Page 29



3.5 The deal also included replacement of 58 housing association properties.   
 

3.6 Both estates included amenities such as sports and playgrounds as well as 
community halls, communal open space, gardens and garages. 

 
3.7 The council was obliged to provide any parcel of land, selected by the 

developer, with vacant possession. The fixed payment of £90m could only be 
accessed by the council once land had been transferred to the developer. 
Therefore, the lack of indexation would have meant that the longer the 
development took, the lower the value of the payment to the council. 
 

3.8 The present value of the £105m cash payment was estimated in 2012 as only 
£84.9m (based on five, yearly instalments). 

 
Consideration 
 

3.9 In 2017 the council appointed GVA to review the terms of the deal including 
the total consideration payable to the council. GVA’s review was based on the 
same figures used for the CLSA appraisal model in 2012. 

 
3.10 GVA’s review estimated the total consideration (homes and cash) under the 

agreement was £184m. This was less than the land value generated by the 
developer’s model in 2012 and suggests that the council would have been 
paid less than the value of the land.  
 

3.11 The September 2012 Cabinet report estimated the council’s costs under the 
CLSA at £104m. This cost included £14m for legal challenge and damages 
plus 5% contingency. If excluded, the council’s liability, as set out in the 
Cabinet report, would have been £90m.  
 

3.12 This estimated cost assumed a best-case scenario for delivering vacant 
possession - the council’s major scheme cost. The report assumed only non-
resident owners were acquired by the council and all resident owners bought 
replacement homes in the new development. 
 

3.13 There were further unusual cost assumptions: 
 

 That all resident owners would be able to re-mortgage on replacement 
homes. 

 

 No account was made for some associated costs such as consultant 
fees, CPO process costs or internal staffing. 

 

 Vacant possession costs would not change over the duration of the 
development, ignoring expected house price inflation. 

 
3.14 In the September 2012 Cabinet report, the acquisition of private properties 

within the estates was estimated to be £60m, (ignoring the 58 housing 
association properties). This assumed an average property value of £350k. In 
reality, the council acquired 38 leasehold and freehold properties across the 

Page 30



two estates between the signing of the CLSA and its termination and at an 
average value of £571k. 
 

3.15 GVA estimated acquisition cost, based on actual valuations of buy backs and 
CPO compensation, to be between £150m and £174m. This is an increase of 
over 50% over the period 2012-2017. While this estimation accounted for 
acquisition of 58 Housing Association properties, it could not explain the 
undervaluation in the original financial appraisal noting that house price 
inflation was only 25% over the same period.  

 
3.16 The true cost of vacant possession estimated between £150m and £174m 

would mean the council having to use the full £105m paid under the CLSA, 
borrowing money during the regeneration project to fulfil its contractual 
obligations and ultimately disposing of up to 88 replacement homes. 
 

3.17 The impact of the council’s obligations to pay for vacant possession of the site 
would have meant it could not commit to rehousing all residents of West 
Kensington and Gibbs Green Estates within the regeneration’s masterplan 
area.   
 

3.18 Additionally, the council would have had a long-term cost liability for ground 
rent payable to CapCo, which would have stood at just under £200k a year, 
assuming the maximum number of replacement homes were provided.  
 

3.19 The CLSA was based on a financial appraisal model with specific 
assumptions provided and created by the developer. In normal 
circumstances, a landowner would rely on their own appraisal model as a way 
of determining the market value and viability.  
 

3.20 In finalising and agreeing the terms of the CLSA, the council used external 
parties such as SNR Denton (Dentons) to provide legal advice; Jones Lang 
LaSalle (JLL) for commercial advice; and PriceWaterHouseCoopers for 
financial advice, best consideration and due diligence. 

 
Impact of CLSA on residents and the community 
 

3.21 Had the CLSA not been terminated, it had the potential to impact residents 
and the community in the following ways: 

 
3.22 The cap on the overall Gross Internal Areas (GIA) of replacement homes 

meant that:  

 some qualifying tenants in the later stages may not have been 
rehoused within the regeneration scheme;  
 

 the residents’ rehousing offer would have been assessed against their 
bedroom need meaning many would not have been offered like for like 
in terms of the number of bedrooms; and 
 

 Replacement homes’ GIA cap coupled with London Plan policy on 
space standards meant like for like replacement homes in terms of size 

Page 31



was also not possible. Homes on the estates were built in the 1960s 
and 70s meeting more generous space standards 
 

3.23 In addition, large families would not have qualified for replacement homes 
requiring some families to be relocated outside the regeneration area or to be 
split where adult children would have had to be relocated to other parts of the 
borough. 

 
3.24 A significant proportion of those living in houses would have been relocated to 

flats as the CLSA only required replacement of 60% of houses with either a 
house or a maisonette termed ‘house equivalent’ at the developer’s discretion. 

 
3.25 The offer to tenants did not represent any significant enhancement to what 

tenants may have otherwise received under standard statutory entitlements 
and compensations. 

 
3.26 The one-move offer to residents was dependent on the first phase of 

residents being moved to another ward within Fulham. The first phase of 
replacement homes was intended to be up to 200 flats on Seagrave Road in 
the former carpark of the exhibition centres.  

 
Private owners 
 

3.27 Private owners were offered their basic statutory entitlements. 
 

3.28 Resident owners (i.e. those who lived in their home on the estates) had the 
added option of buying a replacement home on a shared equity basis. This 
required them to invest both the value of their home and their full Homeloss 
compensation to buy a replacement home, as the value of the replacement 
home was expected to have been higher than the existing home. This meant 
that any compensation for the loss of their existing home had to be reinvested 
in the regeneration scheme. 

 
3.29 Resident owners were expected to replicate any mortgage loan on the 

existing property on the replacement home. Private resident owners who were 
either out of work or above a certain age may not have been able to procure 
the same mortgage amount; meaning some owners would have had no option 
but to move out of the area. 

 
3.30 Shared equity leases contained specific restrictions on, for example, re-

mortgaging, re-letting and reassignment of the lease (sale or disposal). This 
meant that homeowners would have significantly restricted rights compared 
with council leasehold or freehold arrangements. 
 

3.31 Given the lack of progress with the redevelopment of the estates, residents 
were faced with many years of inability to re-mortgage their properties and so 
unnecessary additional costs.   
 

  

Page 32



Appendix 1- Key events leading to the entering into the signing and 
termination of the CLSA 
  

Date Title/Subject 

 2007 
Developer summit held to attract interest in major development sites in 
the borough 

May 2009 
Invitation to participate in a mini competition to develop options for 
delivery of an international conference centre on the Earls Court/West 
Kensington site  

13 Jul 2009 
Investigation of the possibility of a special purpose vehicle and the 
provision of funding of £300,000 for a transport study and professional 
adviser 

Aug 2009 
 

Approval to enter into a Collaboration Agreement with TfL and CapCo. 
The Collaboration Agreement was signed in October 2009 between 
H&F Council, CapCo and Transport for London to provide a framework 
for working together in exploring how the planned redevelopment of 
Earls Court 1 and 2 exhibition centres could benefit the wider area. The 
Collaboration Agreement will also allow negotiation of the commercial 
structure of a deal under which the landowning partners would 
participate in the scheme. 

October 2009 Collaboration Agreement between H&F, TfL and CapCo. 

18 Jul 2011 
 

Cabinet Decision to enter into an Exclusivity Agreement with CapCo and 
also a further funding for professional fees and staff resources 

July 2011 Exclusivity Agreement entered between H&F and CapCo. 

9 Aug 2011 
Waiver of Contract Standing Orders to appoint Drivers Jonas Deloitte as 
consultants to lead Earls Court S106 negotiations with CapCo on behalf 
of the Council 

5th Sep 2011 Waiver for the appointment of PwC 

5th Sep 2011 
Earls Court Regeneration Project – West Kensington And Gibbs Green 
Steering Group 

7 Nov 2011 
Cabinet decision to provisionally endorse the conclusions contained 
within the Estates Regeneration Economic Options Appraisal subject to 
further consultation 

24 Nov 2011 Waiver for appointment of Davies Johnson LTD to supply Nick Johnson 

19 Dec 2011 
Decision to consult with secure tenants under section 105, Housing Act 
1985 and also to consult with residents of the wider area concerning the 
proposed Agreement with CapCo 

16 Feb 2012 

Resolution to grant planning permission for the Seagrave Road car park 
for 808 residential units subject to there being no contrary direction form 
the Mayor of London and the terms of a section 106 Agreement being 
agreed. This had the potential to allow for up to 200 replacement homes 
from the West Ken and Gibbs Green estates  

9 Mar 2012 
The terms of the indemnity were only just being agreed and the Council 
needed to be in a position to enter into the indemnity before the Full 
Council meeting on 19 March. 

12 Mar 2012 
Review of consultation and information relied on by Hammersmith and 
Fulham Council to decide whether to include the West Kensington and 
Gibbs Green Estates in the Earl's Court Redevelopment Scheme 

19 Mar 2012 
Adoption of the Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area 
Joint Supplementary Planning Document 

23 Apr 2012 
Following a report, Cabinet minded to authorise entering into the CLSA 
subject to finalisation of consultation results and negotiations with 
CapCo 

Page 33



Date Title/Subject 

Jul 2012 
 

Leader’s Urgent Decision to extend period for negotiations for the 
potential CLSA with CapCo to 29 January 2013 

3 Sep 2012 

Cabinet Resolution to enter into the Conditional Land Sale Agreement 
with CapCo and also the disposal of the former Gibbs Green school and 
Farm Lane site for a combined £15 million; approval also provided for 
the acquisition of freehold and leasehold interests within the Estates up 
to £15 million 

12 Sep 2012 
Resolution to grant planning permission subject to there being no 
contrary indication from the Mayor of London and the terms of a section 
106 Agreement being finalised 

24 Oct 2012 
Cabinet Decision to make an application to the Secretary of State for the 
Department for Communities and Local Government for consent to the 
disposal of housing land as required by section 32, Housing Act 1985 

23 Jan 2013 CLSA and Collateral Agreement entered 

2019 
CapCo announce they have received offers for their Earls Court interest 
from various parties and have entered an exclusivity arrangement with 
Delancey. 

2019 Delancey approaches the council to discuss its plans for Earls Court. 

15 Nov 2019 
Leader’s Urgency Decision to enter the conditional agreement for 
termination of the CLSA. 

9 Dec 2019 
Completion of the termination deed, completion of transfer of Gibbs 
Green School and 11 Farm Lane and return of the West Ken and Gibbs 
Green estates to council control. 

 

Page 34



  

  

 

 
 

CIVIC CAMPUS PROGRAMME 

 

October 2020 Update 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



1 Programme Update 
 
 

Management summary RAG status 

Summary Programme 
Status 

Milestones Budget Risks 

This reporting 
period 

GREEN GREEN GREEN AMBER 

Last reporting 
period 

GREEN GREEN GREEN AMBER 

 
The programme is developing as planned. Programme is on track. Budget is 
currently forecasting an underspend and status remains as per previous report. 
 
Risks in arising from third party suppliers have emerged in relation to stopping up 
works, primarily due to Covid-19 induced delays – these are yet to have an impact 
on programme and mitigations have been implemented. However, they remain a risk 
to be closely monitored by the project team.  
 
The overall programme is made up of 3 distinct Phases: 
 
Phase 1 – Office Decant – the office decant is now completed.  
 
Phase 2 – Demolition and Enabling works. 
 
Progress since last report 
 

 Controlled demolition of the town hall extension and other buildings that form 

part of the site continues – Town Hall Extension expected to be fully 

demolished end of October 2020, with remaining areas completed November 

2020 (and exit of demolition team from site) 

 Ground works completed on cinema site 

 Relocation of the CCTV control rooms is in progress - previously reported a 

risk, this process is nearing completion and is due to complete by end of 

October (with no impact on overall programme) 

 Contractor has begun asbestos survey, opening up works and other 

associated enabling works inside the town hall 

 The survey of the Thames Water sewer has been carried out, and further 

design work is now in progress in preparation for a build over licence being 

secured 

 Quakers meeting house completed and land transfers completed as planned 

Risks 
 
Stopping up and Utilities Diversions 

 Progress was being made on this with utilities companies to stop up Nigel 

Playfair avenue. However, this process requires the co-operation of utilities 

Page 36



providers (water, gas, digital etc.) in order to agree and pay for service 

diversions. 

 The project team have experienced delays from a two providers in providing 

appropriate quotations and programmes – they are blaming Covid-19 as 

having affected their available resources.  

 While this isn’t affecting the programme at present it introduces a degree of 

uncertainty until resolved with the utilities providers. To mitigate this to some 

extent, the Council and the JV have agreed with the main contractor that they 

will take responsibility for the next stage of this work. 

 Agreement on the programmes and completion of key work is required by 

January 2021 in order for the programme to continue on time. 

 To continue with the stopping up while this is resolved, a temporary stopping 

up order is being put in place ahead of permanent one in January 2021. 

 
Phase 3 – Main works – This sets out the design development, procurement of the 
main contract and construction delivery on site. 
 

 Stage 4 design and contractor proposals for the fixed price contract were 

submitted at the end of July, as planned ahead of sign of by client team 

 Since then the Council, the JV and the consultant teams have been working 

to evaluate and validate both the design and the contractor proposals. The 

contractor proposals included a number of value engineering proposals that 

required thorough evaluation. 

 The Council has held 18 validation sessions with 54 different members of staff 

to confirm approval for different aspects of the design and make any 

necessary changes 

 Examples of design development during this process include 

o Co-production with Disabled Residents Team to ensure a fully inclusive 

design 

o Coordination of all design elements, and validation by stakeholders 

o Refinement of IT and audio-visual requirements 

o Creation of Southern Entrance informal workspace 

o Security Control Room included off entrance foyer  

o Improved access to Changing Places room 

o Events kitchen enlarged 

 Civic Campus Executive Board and Chief Executive have reviewed and 

approved Stage 4 designs 

 Final contract terms and price intended to be submitted for final approval by 

the Council and the JV, and for legal completion on 28th September 

 The contractor is carrying out some limited works under a letter of intent 

ahead of this date  

 Both the Joint Venture contract and the Council’s refurbishment and fit out 

contract are within approved budgets. 

Page 37



 Part of the Stage 4 design development required a s.96a planning application 

to amend designs – and is due to be approved under officer delegations at 

time of writing. 

Some elements in both contracts will remain as provisional sums, as Stage 5 design 
will need to be completed for example on interior design and category B fit out 
requirements.  
 
A change control process is in place to manage these sums and any other changes 
that emerge or are instructed once in contract. Post contract changes are to be 
limited as far as possible and only if truly necessary, and no new design work is to 
be instructed. 
 
Summary of process:  

 Defined change control process administered and documented by the project 
managers and development managers, Silver DCC 

 Applies to significant changes and not reasonable design development 
 Significant changes are subject to Programme Board approval 
 Changes with budget implications require either Executive Board or JV Board 

approval (dependent on contract) 
 Budget changes are within the limits of approved budgets 

 

2 Commercial 
 

The Joint Venture continues to meet and has agreed to enter into its construction 
contract, which is within the target budget price. 
 
The Council has completed its delegated decision to acquire the commercial units 
from the joint venture. 
 
Pre-lets have been agreed for the cinema and the retail unit and delegated decisions 
are forthcoming to enable agreements for lease to be signed. Discussions continue 
on pre-lets and pre-sales for the other commercial elements of the scheme. 
 
All pre-contract conditions precedent within the joint venture agreement and 
conditional agreement for lease have now been satisfied. 

3 Impact of Covid-19 
 
As identified above, Covid-19 has caused some brief delays to activity but hasn’t 
affected the overall programme delivery dates. Risks are emerging in relation to third 
party diversions and service utilities. The project team continue to monitor both the 
direct construction impacts and the financial viability impacts on the project, and the 
LLP board also reviews this as part of its obligations. 
 
The detailed design of the Civic Campus is moving into detailed Stage 5 and Cat B 
fit out processes, which will provide further opportunity to refine the approach to the 
office spaces in response to Covid-19 where appropriate. 

Page 38



4 Budget Update. 
 
In January 2019, Full Council approved the following recommendations for the Civic 
Campus programme:  
 

1) Decant Budget of £36,734,027 (made up of an additional budget of £27.3m 

and existing budgets from previous reports, as noted in paragraph 9.22 of the 

Full Council report). Final confirmation of funding was delegated to the Chief 

Executive, as advised by the Strategic Director, Finance and Governance, in 

consultation with the Leader of the Council, the Cabinet Member for the 

Economy and the Arts and the Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial 

Services, and; 

 

2) A capital budget of up to £45.6m for the refurbishment and fit out of the Town 

Hall building. Final confirmation of this funding has been delegated to the 

Strategic Director, Finance and Governance in consultation with the Leader of 

the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services.  

The decant is now complete and we are finalising accounts with the contractors. The 
current budget is currently forecasting an underspend.  
 
A summary analysis of current financial performance is set out in Appendix 2.  

         
It should be noted that the July Cabinet report approved: 

 Approval of a project budget realignment in line with the Council’s strategy to 

protect reserves; this would provide a £860,841 further underspend against 

the revenue allocation and requires a corresponding, £860,841 additional 

capital budget for the fit out of the Town Hall (including the extension) 

 That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director for the Economy, in 

consultation with the Director of Finance, the Cabinet Member for the 

Economy and the Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services, to 

agree an additional 5% variation of the approved capital budget to 

accommodate any potential increase in contract costs or approved 

specification changes following approval of this report, to be funded from 

borrowing. 

 
This means that the total budget for the Town Hall building refurbishment and fit out 
is  £46.5m, and the revenue budget for decant is £35.9m.

Page 39



Appendix 1 
 
Overall Programme Summary 
 

   

P
age 40



Appendix 2  - Budget Summary 

Budget 

Item 

Approved 

Budget 

Spend to 

date 

Expected 

Spend to date 

Variance 

Against 

Spend to Date 

Total Forecast Variance 

Against 

Total 

Budget 

Notes 

Revenue  £35,873,186   

£14,460,675  

£14,460,675  £  £29,479,0864   

£6,394,102                 

Budget is tracking at an overall underspend through 

budget savings throughout the programme 

LBHF 

Capital 
£46,460,841.00 £5,555,871 £7,100,977.49 £1,545,106.49 £46,460,841.00 

 

Underspend from baseline position is a result of a 

delay in demolition works and some reprogramming. 

The programme is forecast to retain its position by the 

end of 2020. 

 

 

 

P
age 41



Appendix 3 – Programme Milestones Tracker 

 

Activity/Milestone Target Actual/Forecast Comment/Risk 

RIBA Stage 4  
Submission 

July July  

Contract Price 
Submission 

July July  

Completion of 
Quakers Meeting 
House 

August August Major milestone on 
the critical path 

Start on Site (Town 
Hall Early Works) 

August September Actioned under a 
letter of intent ahead 
of main contract 
signature – 
Asbestos, 
Clearance, Opening 
up, Hoarding works 
 

Agreed Contract 
Price 

August September Detailed 
negotiations on 
specific CPs 
required resolution 
to avoid provisional 
sums 
 

RIBA Stage 4/CAT A 
sign off 

August September Additional validation 
required with 
Disabled Residents 
Team 

Main works contract 
signature 

August September Approved by LBHF 
and JV Board 
 

Temporary stopping 
up of Nigel Playfair 
Avenue. 

28th September 16th October Small delay due 
allow for revised 
planning approval to 
be confirmed. 
 

Town Hall Clearance 
 

 13th October  On Target  

Asbestos removal to 
Town Hall completed  

13th October 
2020 

On Target  

Hoarding erected 13th October 
2020 

On Target 
 

 

CCTV Control Room 
completed  

30th October 
2020 

On Target 
 

Final technical 
decant and full VP 
to contractor 

Completion of Town 
Hall  opening up 
works 

10th November On Target  

Page 42



Full Demolition 
Completion 
 

6th November On Target Revised programme 
following Covid-19 
delay 

Permanent Stopping 
up of Nigel Playfair 
Avenue 

January 2021 On Target Required to allow 
basement works. 

Start on Site (Block 
B) 

24th January 
2021 

On Target Risk that prevails 
relates stopping up 
order and services 
diversions being 
completed 

Start on Site (Block A 
and D) 

January 2021 On Target Risk that prevails 
relates stopping up 
order and services 
diversions being 
completed 

Start on Site (Block 
C) 

January 2021 On Target Risk that prevails 
relates stopping up 
order and services 
diversions being 
completed 

Sales Commence September 2021 On Target 
 

Off plan sales 

Town Hall Handover 
(Contract A) 

April 2022 On Target Some CAT B items 
will remain for fit out 
until August 2022, 
as there will be a 
gradual return to the 
Civic Campus from 
leased buildings 
 

Handover Block C 
(Contract B) 

October 2022 On Target Social rented 
housing, and retail 
at ground floor 
 

Handover Block B 
(Contract B) 

November 2022 On Target This is the office 
block  

Handover Block A 
(Contract B) 

May 2023 On Target Private sales units 
and affordable 
workspace at 
ground floor 

Handover Block D  
 (Contract B) 

March 2023 On Target Shared Ownership 
Units 
 

All sales agreed  September 2023 On Target  

All sales completed March 2024 On Target JV can be wound up 
at this point 

 

  

Page 43



Appendix 4 – Summary of funding 

 

Element 
£m 

Capital/ 
Revenue 

Cash/ 
Non-Cash 

Funding  
Source 

Site Assembly 
         

Cinema Site Purchase 16.0  Capital Cash 
CFR (internal 
borrowing) 

Surrender of Bradmore Park site 1.7  Capital Non-Cash N/a – land swap 

Total 17.7 
        

     JV inputs and outputs 
         

Conditional Land Sale     

Conditional Land Sale 25.3  Capital Non-Cash N/a – land sale 

Extension Pod Works value (25.3) Capital Non-Cash 
N/a – consideration for 
land sale 

Conditional land sale total (0) 
        

Investment in JV     

Equity investment in JV 25.0 Capital* Cash 

CFR (internal/ PWLB 
borrowing) 

Member loan  10.0 Capital* Cash 
CFR (internal/ PWLB 
borrowing) 

JV return (modelled January 2020) (11.1) Revenue Cash 

Return on investment 
after repayment of 
above 

     

     Town Hall refurbishment 
         

Capital     

Town Hall refurbishment 35.0 Capital Cash 
CIL/ CFR (internal/ 
PWLB borrowing)** 

Fit-out 11.5 Capital Cash 
CIL/ CFR (internal/ 
PWLB borrowing) 

Capital total 46.5    

     

Revenue     

Decant Costs (after savings) 35.9 Revenue Cash Earmarked reserves*** 

Revenue total 35.9 
        

     Commercial acquisition 
    

Office and commercial space 64.0 Capital Cash 

CFR (internal/ PWLB 
borrowing), part funded 
by S106 affordable 
workspace 

     

     Other Items 
    

141 Right to Buy receipts grant to A2D 6.2 Capital Cash 
HRA 141 receipts 
(ringfenced) 

Developer Contributions (S106 and CIL) (5.9) Revenue Cash N/a 

Management fee for LBHF role in JV (0.7) Revenue Cash 
To offset project / 
decant costs 

 
*Investment/ loan capital in a JV would not usually be classed as capital but as an investment – local authority 
statutory accounting requires this to be treated as capital. 
**The Council intends to fund the majority of the Town Hall refurbishment and the fit out works with Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) receipts. These funds have not yet been fully received and are dependent on 
development schemes reaching expected trigger points.  
*** The majority of decant expenses are considered to be revenue as in the main these are rental costs for 
decant sites – however items of expense will be considered on a case by case basis for capitalisation to protect 
reserves where possible.

 

 

Page 44



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to:    Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contracts Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
 
Date:           5th October 2020 
 
Subject: Section 106 Agreements – Update Report 
 
Report of: Joanne Woodward, Chief Planning Officer & Emily Hill, Director of 

Finance 
 
Responsible Directors:  Tony Clements, Interim Strategic Director of Economy 

Emily Hill, Director of Finance    
 

 
Summary 
 
Following previous reports in July 2019 and January 2020 to this Committee, this 
report provides an update of the current position regarding Section 106 (S106) 
balances of funds received, pending, and proposed expenditure. 
 
Recommendations 
 

1. The Committee to note the report. 
 
 
Wards Affected: All 

 
 

H&F Values 
 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F 
Priorities  

 Building shared 
prosperity 

The Council uses planning obligation to ensure the 
benefits of new development are realised by existing 
residents and businesses. This is achieved through 
various means, including but not limited to the provision 
of new community facilities; enhancements to open 
space; maximising job opportunities in both construction 
and post construction phases; and improvements in 
environmental quality. 

 Creating a 
compassionate 
council 

The Council uses planning obligations to deliver facilities 
and services, including but not limited to improvements 
to existing facilities to ensure these are accessible to all 
in the community. 

 Doing things with 
local residents, not 
to them 

The priorities for securing obligations seek to reflect 
local residents’ views on the impacts a development will 
have on an area and the improvements necessary to 
address these. Local residents and businesses are also 

Page 45

Agenda Item 8



engaged in the development of projects delivered 
through S106 funds. 

 Being ruthlessly 
financially efficient 

From the negotiation of obligations, to the procurement 
of facilities, the Council seeks to ensure we maximise 
the benefits from new development and are robust in 
getting value for money, including leveraging in further 
external funding where appropriate. 

 Taking pride in 
H&F 

The overarching aim of Council’s use of planning 
obligations is to ensure the impacts of growth are 
managed and that development benefits new as well as 
existing residents and that all residents have equitable 
access to high quality services, amenities, that met their 
needs. 

 Rising to the 
challenge of the 
climate and 
ecology 
emergency 

Obligations are negotiated on new developments where 
these fall short of policy requirements on carbon 
reduction and ecological protection and net gain. Such 
funds are then to be used to deliver borough wide 
initiatives and projects in Council’s climate change 
strategy.  

 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Name: Joanne Woodward 
Position: Chief Planning Officer 
Telephone: 020 8753 4429 
Email: joanne.woodward@lbhf.gov.uk  
 
Name: Emily Hill 
Position: Director of Finance  
Telephone: 020 8753 3145 
Email: Emily.Hill@lbhf.gov.uk  
 
Name: Matthew Paterson 
Position: Interim Head of Spatial Planning 
Telephone: 0777 6672 447 
Email: matt.patterson@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
None. 
 

 
 
1. CURRENT POSITION REGARDING S.106 FUNDS  
 
1.1. Following the 2019/20 S106 drawdown, the financial year end closing balance 

of S106 funds already received was £47.7m.  As at 1st September a further 
£5.19m in financial contributions has been received from developers. This 
brings the current total available balance of S106 funds to £52.9m.  

Page 46

mailto:joanne.woodward@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:Emily.Hill@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:matt.patterson@lbhf.gov.uk


 
1.2. Table 1 below summarises the balances at 1st September 2020 in respect of 

the S106 funds already received, expected future receipts, and the proposed 
S106 spend on projects and services over the next three years (2020/21 – 
2022/23). 

 
Table 1 – Overview of s106 balances at 1st September 2020 

 (£’000) 

Available balance (cash in hand) at 1 September 2020 £52,906 

Expected future receipts  £127,546 

Total current and expected future funds £180,452 

Proposed expenditure £32,961 

 
AVAILABLE S106 FUNDS 
 
1.3. The S106 funds come from obligations negotiated on over 230 individual 

developments across the borough. Most contributions are limited to certain 
purposes or types of infrastructure through the individual legal agreement.  
Appendix 1 (attached) summarises the funds already received against the 
purposes for which the funding was secured. 
 

EXPECTED FUTURE RECEIPTS 
 
1.4. Future receipts negotiated but not yet received are in the region of £127m.  

The receipt of these funds is dependent on trigger points for payments being 
reached. Trigger points typically relate to a specific stage of development, 
such as commencement of development works on site or the first occupation 
of a residential unit and are therefore outside of the Council’s direct control 
and are highly dependent on wider economic factors.  
 

1.5. Appendix 1 indicates the expected future funds that could be received over 
the next 10 to 15 years. As with the available balances, the future funds are 
summarised by the purpose for which the funding has been secured. It should 
be noted that the future funds exclude the S106 funds agreed for schemes 
where currently there is little prospect of the proposed developments coming 
forward, such as the original Earl’s Court scheme and Chelsea Football Club’s 
stadium proposal at Stamford Bridge. The financial obligations negotiated on 
these developments amounts to £66.9m.  

 
1.6. A number of notable S106 agreements have been negotiated since last 

reporting to this Committee, that will continue to add to the programme.  
These are summarised in table 2 below.   

 
Table 2 – Notable agreements negotiated over last 6 months 

Notable S106 Agreements negotiated 
over last 6 months 

Approximate value (Excluding 
non-financial obligations) 

(£’000) 

Olympia Exhibition Centre £7,000 

Hammersmith Magistrates Court £7,500 

Fulham Town Hall £670 

Page 47



 
PRPOSED EXPENDITURE OF S106 FUNDS  
 
1.7. As indicated in Table 1 above, there is currently £33m of planned/proposed 

expenditure on projects over the next three years (2020/21 - 2022/23). Table 
3 below summarises proposed spend areas for the future.   

 
Table 3 – Proposed Expenditure 

Items for Spend Estimated 
Expenditure (£’000) 

Affordable Housing 22,803 

Community Facilities 2,573 

Community Safety and Security 4,520 

Community Wellbeing and Social Inclusion 3,533 

Parks, Leisure and Sports Facilities 268 

 32,961 

 
1.8. The Planning and Finance teams continue to work closely with the various 

service areas of the Council. This is to ensure the services are aware of the 
funding available and for what purposes, so that they can develop appropriate 
projects to include in their capital works programmes for the coming years to 
deliver on the obligations. Due to Covid and, therein the redirecting of 
resources and the need for our contractors to meet new assessment 
requirements, the work programmes for transport, economic development, 
and parks are still being developed and, as such, are not reflected in the 
above proposed expenditure.  

 
List of Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 – S106 funding available and future funds 
 
  

Page 48



Appendix 1 – S106 funding available and future funds 
 

Purpose Available funds 
1/09/2020 

Future Funds  

Affordable Housing provision 

Affordable Housing 17,079,186 30,306,600 

Arts and Cultural Projects 

Facilitation of Engagement in Arts 175,318 2,250,000 

Public Art Installation 0 50,000 

Community Facilities 

Community Centres and Community Halls 93,687 300,000 

Healthcare Facilities and Services 969,688 353,956 

Libraries 495,141 0 

Sports Facilities 136,000 675,740 

Community Safety and Security 

CCTV 65,573 75,000 

Enhanced Policing 136,293 595,000 

Fire Safety 0.00 3,000 

Community Wellbeing and Social Inclusion 

Anti-Poverty 11,467 1,587,500 

Healthcare Services, including Mental Health 412,026 0 

Social Inclusion Events and Initiatives 0 0 

Social Services, including social enterprises 1,006,997 4,014,220 

Economic Development 

Affordable Workspace 0 10,500,000 

Inward Investment Projects 18,621 0 

Local Employment and Training initiatives, including workplace coordinator 3,277,628 11,323,364 

Procurement and Business Engagement 84,168 222,371 

Town Centre Management/Manager 752,888 368,000 

P
age 49



Environmental Improvements 

Air Quality 135,596 3,720 

Carbon reduction and carbon offset 127,371 2,322,243 

Environmental Improvements - General 785,315 0 

SUDS, Flood Mitigation and Drainage 79,358 0 

Waste Management 22,332 0 

Heritage and Conservation 

Conservation Area Management 130,226 0 

Heritage Projects 26,974 0 

Various Purposes 

Opportunity Area/Fulham Town centre 3,936,956 2,575,000 

Opportunity Area/Hammersmith Town Centre 564,477 1,210,000 

Opportunity Area/White City 4,433,518 30,140,012 

Borough 0.00 2,500,000 

Parks, Leisure and Outdoor Sports Facilities 

Path and Walkway Management 13,707 0 

Playground Improvements 1,442 105,000 

Public Open Space Improvements 2,153,760 1,499,335 

Tree Planting - General 22,315 53,200 

Schools and Higher Education 

New Schools Provision 1,557,493 614,500 

Transport and Public Realm 

Bus Improvements 571,586 2,778,000 

CPZ 93,809 745,000 

Environmental Improvements - General 37,800 0 

Event Traffic Management 0 9,800 

Highway and Junction Works 4,926,356 5,862,939 

P
age 50



Parking 0 0 

Public Realm Improvements 3,970,208 6,551,781 

TfL 0 4,599,800 

Traffic Safety Initiatives 0 137,000 

Train, Tube and Station Improvements 3,456,753 750,000 

Travel Plans and Monitoring 73,939 1,072,400 

Tree Planting - Streets 31,021 20,000 

Walking and Cycling facilities 1,001,057 1,371,500 

Total 52,906,209 127,545,980 

 
 

P
age 51


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Financial Impact of Covid-19 on the Council
	6 Review of Termination of the Conditional Land Sale Agreement
	7 Civic Campus Programme - October 2020 Update
	8 Section 106 Agreements - Update Report

